# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHAWN MCLAURIN

APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

VS.

No. 2008-KA-00814-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLE/PLAINTIFF

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- Honorable Judge Tommie Green Hinds County Circuit Court Judge Post Office Box 327 Jackson, MS 39205
- Robert Smith, Esq.
   Hinds County District Attorney
   PO Box 22747
   Jackson, MS 39225-2747

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Defendant Shawn McLaurin Raises the following issues on appeal:

- I. The Defendant deserves a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel as specifically described herein and, in considering the trial transcript as a whole.
- II. The trial court impermissibly denied the defense the opportunity to cross examine the Complainant on the issue of her failure to describe to the police McLaurin's healing gunshot wound to the leg, an identifying mark recognizable at the time of the alleged rape.
- III. The trial court overruled McLaurin's objection to the State's comment on his failure to provide testimony to the jury regarding his healing gunshot wound to the leg, thus permitting an unconstitutional comment on the Defendant's right not to testify or present evidence. This happened during witness testimony and again (without objection) in the state's closing argument.
- IV. Defendant was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to conduct a balancing test regarding the admissibility of alleged prior criminal acts of McLaurin brought through witness Officer Lowrey, witness Williams and witness Chappelle.
- V. The state's lineup and photo array procedures were so suggestive as to unconstitutionally taint the identification of the Defendant.
- VI. Defendant deserves a new trial based on cumulative error in the trial coupled with the denial of effective assistance of counsel.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

## I. Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings:

Currently, Shawn McLaurin, "McLaurin", has two pending appeals before this Court.

They concern the same case, but different issues. This brief is the direct appeal of the trial of the case in which Shawn McLaurin, hereinafter "Defendant" was convicted of rape. To prevent confusion, Defendant highlights that his other pending appeal (Case Number 2008-CA-01251-COA) is his appeal of the final order of the trial court denying his motion to set aside the dismissal of his Motion for Post Conviction Relief. The issue of ineffective assistance is also extensively briefed in that appeal, 2008-CA-01251 COA with more extensive documentation and attached exhibits. The Supreme Court has previously granted permission to proceed on this direct appeal in an out of time manner.

#### II. Facts:

The Complainant accused McLaurin of raping her on January 16, 1997. (TR, 121). At the time of the incident, the Complainant states she had known her assailant for about three years. (TR, 152). She had her assailant's phone number and called him on the night of the alleged rape. (TR, 122). She had met him through her own cousin who was dating her assailant's friend. (TR, 155). Because the complainant originally told the police she did not know the "real name" of her assailant, an arrest was unable to be made for 17 months in the case. At first she told the police that she thought her assailant's name was Brian McDaniels. (TR, 120). Because she did could not give the police any other names for her assailant, the case was inactive for 17 months as no Brian McDaniels could be found. (TR, 141) Oddly, the Complainant failed to mention to any officer, as evidenced by the many police reports, that she

knew her assailant by the nick name, "Eshawn", or heard anyone else call him Eshawn. This was revealed for the first time at trial. (TR, 135).

Seventeen months after the alleged rape, the Complainant identified her attacker the4 Convention Center Nightclub on Woodrow Wilson Avenue at approximately midnight where she was out with a cousin. (TR, 141). She talked to an off duty police officer working at the club and had McLaurin arrested that night. The Complainant was, two days after seeing him in the nightclub, shown a photo line up, which included Shawn McLaurin. She identified him 17 months after the fact as her attacker. (TR, 154).

Shawn McLaurin was tried and convicted in a one day trial for the crime of rape and sentenced to life in the State Prison.

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

After reading the discovery and reading the transcript, it becomes apparent that this was an exceptionally poorly defended case and that McLaurin did not receive a fair trial in large part because of his own lawyer. There are at least 21 significant issues of ineffective assistance of counsel that caused major prejudice and are outlined below. There are countless other un-cited failings through out the trial transcript that the Court will see contribute to the overall prejudice to McLaurin. He was ineffectively represented and deserves a new trial with competent counsel.

During the course of the trial, the trial court disallowed cross examination of the Complaining witness on issues highly relevant and key to proving that the Complainant misidentified her assailant. Specifically, the trial court did not allow McLaurin to cross examine the Complainant on her observations of his medical state or her knowledge of his medical condition at the time of the alleged assault. These issues were highly relevant to identification.

The prosecution was permitted to inappropriately comment on the failure of McLaurin to call certain witnesses. This violated his constitutional right to a fair trial. Also preventing McLaurin from receiving a fair trial was the trial court's failure to conduct a balancing test on other crimes and other bad acts evidence solicited by the prosecution. This occurred, despite the trial court's pretrial ruling that she was not going to allow other crimes or other bad acts evidence if the defendant did not testify. He did not testify.

The prosecution was allowed to conduct an in court identification despite the fact that a suggestive out of court photo array had been shown to the Complainant.

Finally, the cumulative effect of the ineffective representation coupled with the courts errors and prosecutors misconduct warrant a new trial for McLaurin.

Respectfully, McLaurin prays for a remand and retrial on the merits of the case, or in the alternative, a remand for evidentiary hearing on the issues of ineffective assistance of counsel.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Defendant deserves a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel as specifically described herein and, in considering the trial transcript as a whole.

McLaurin argues the following conduct of Defense Counsel, considered individually or cumulatively, provides a reasonable basis of an appellate finding of ineffective assistance of counsel resulting in a probable adverse outcome for McLaurin in the trial of this case.

## A. Specific Instances of Ineffective Assistance

1. Despite accepting a \$2500.00 retainer to do so, Defense Counsel failed to appeal the jury verdict of guilty. Defense Counsel later promised to file a PCR after missing the direct appeal deadline, but never did so despite sending correspondence to McLaurin assuring he was doing so.

- 2. Defense Counsel had ability to view an incriminating identifying photo of McLaurin used by the State at trial, but admittedly never went to prosecutor's office to review it and never filed motion to exclude it based on the suggestive procedure in which it was presented to the Complainant. (TR, 99).
- 3. After McLaurin's arrest and apparent appointment of counsel, the prosecution sent an investigator to the his house to take photographs of the house. The investigator engaged McLaurin in a conversation outside of the house while she was taking pictures and received an alleged statement that was used in trial against McLaurin. Defense Counsel never filed a motion to challenge this statement, or objection to it's use, though it was used to the detriment of McLaurin at trial. (TR, 112, 176).
- 4. The opening statement and closing arguments of trial counsel are so bizarre, disjointed and, in places, appear so incoherent, that they must have had a profound negative impact on the jury to the detriment of the Defendant. (TR, 113-118 and 288-303). Respectfully, counsel for the appellant requests that the Court review *in toto* the opening and closing of Defense Counsel along with the conduct of Defense Counsel throughout the trial. (RE, A).
- 5. Defense Counsel filed no motion regarding or objection to an in-court identification of McLaurin despite the fact that the Complainant had been shown a suggestive out of court photo lineup of McLaurin (a procedure recognized to be unduly suggestive). (TR, 120-121).
- 6. Defense Counsel failed to timely object to the six person photo spread of McLaurin that was shown to the Complainant subsequent to his arrest. The array was impermissibly suggestive and highly prejudicial to the defendant at trial. Supporting the allegation of the suggestive nature of the photo array is the fact that it was shown after an in-person identification of McLaurin by the Complainant a mere days before the photo lineup. (TR, 142). Though he

did eventually object to it, both the Court and the Prosecutor commented on the fact that Defense Counsel's Motion to exclude the photo array was untimely made when he did so for the first time after the evidence was already admitted and during his Motion for Directed Verdict. (TR, 217-218).

- 7. The Complainant testified there was vaginal penetration by the assailant's penis. (TR, 132-133). But, the original police report states that the Complainant reported the perpetrator was unable to achieve an erection. See Exhibit "B", JPD Police Report, page styled "General MO", Section 74: "Suspects Characteristics", #3. "Not Achieve Erection". Defense Counsel failed to cross examine at all on the issue of vaginal penetration versus the reported inability of the assailant to achieve an erection. The penetration issue is a central element to the crime of rape and this major inconsistency should have been thoroughly explored on cross examination of the Complainant.
- 8. Defense Counsel failed to cross examine Officer Velma Johnson or the Complainant on the fact that the Complainant never told the police that she heard her assailant's sister call him "Shawn" just after the alleged rape. (TR, 135). This came out at trial for the first time. This fact exists nowhere in the original or supplemental police reports taken from the Complainant. In fact, the case was closed by JPD due to the fact that the Complainant could not provide any identifying name for the suspect. Compare Complainant's trial testimony regarding the assailant's nickname to JPD reports, "Exhibit B & C" which wholly lack Shawn or as the suspects name or nickname. (See specifically "Exhibits B&C", "JPD Offense/Supplementary", dated January 17, 1997, where a suspect description is given and no nickname is provided in box #28 "Alias" and Velma Johnson's supplemental report. Additionally, this damaging testimony from the

Complainant constitutes a discovery violation to which Defense Counsel never objected and would likely have benefited from a Box challenge. Box v. State, 437 So.2d 19 (Miss.1983). Failure to follow the Box guidelines is prejudicial error, requiring reversal and remand." Duplantis v. State, 644 So.2d 1235, 1249-50 (Miss.1994) (citations omitted). Failure to ask for a continuance under Box can be ineffective; "Swington's attorney was deficient in not requesting an opportunity to interview the witness again, which meets the first prong of Strickland" Swington v. State, 742 So.2d 1106, Miss.,1999. Defense Counsel did not avail himself of this procedure in McLaurin's case. The information about a previously undisclosed nickname was highly damaging and its exclusion very likely would have led to a different outcome in the trial.

- 9. Defense Counsel failed to object to the introduction into evidence of an arrest mug shot of McLaurin that was taken subsequent to an unrelated prior arrest. (TR, 142).
- 10. Defense Counsel failed to investigate the identity of the Complainant's cousin who introduced the Complainant to the alleged assailant. This cousin was dating the assailant's friend and would have known the assailant's identity. (TR, 121). Additionally, Defense Counsel failed to cross examine the Complainant on the totally inconsistent statements of the Complainant regarding the reasons she could not locate or identify a person she allegedly knew through mutual friends and relatives and dated over a period of three years.
- 11. Defense Counsel failed to investigate and tender discovery in the form of medical records to the State that would have proved that McLaurin, at the time of the alleged rape, was on crutches and had been the victim of a recent gunshot wound to the leg. The assailant described by the Complainant lacked any such wound, limp or crutches and was able to drive, facts all disputed by his medical condition. The State successfully objected to cross examination

of the Complainant on this issue because none of this information was provided to the State by the Defense prior to the trial. (TR, 149-150). In addition to sustaining the State's discovery violation objection, the Court inappropriately limited cross examination on this issue because of a *sua sponte* finding of lack of relevance. (TR, 149-150). Defense counsel could easily have described to the Court why this evidence was highly relevant, but failed to do so. The trial court's ruling will be addressed below as a separate error by the Court.

12. During the trial, the State attempted to show through collateral testimony that McLaurin possessed a car very similar to the one described by the Complainant. This testimony took the form of JPD undercover officer Richard Lowrey stating that he had on a previous, unrelated date seen McLaurin in a small black truck with the word "outlaw" across the back window. ("Outlaw" refers to a brand of custom truck parts). This previous, unrelated date concerned the officer's investigation of unrelated criminal activity, a fact that became very apparent to the jury, with no objection by Defense counsel. In fact, Defense Counsel exacerbated the testimony of Officer Lowrey by opening the door and drawing out from Lowrey the fact that guns were found in McLaurin's car in a search unrelated to the rape accusation. (TR, 193-194). Lowrey, an undercover officer, was allowed, without objection, to testify that he "was aware of the existence" of Shawn McLaurin. On cross examination Defense Counsel solicited that "another officer impounded his [McLaurin's] vehicle". (TR, 192). On redirect, without objection, the State elicited that there were rifles and guns taken from the black truck. (TR, 193). All of this information was evidence of other crimes which were prohibited by the trial court's pretrial ruling and should have been objected to. (TR, 91-94). No hearing was conducted as to whether the prejudice of this information was outweighed by is probative value. In fact, during pretrial motions, the trial court ruled that evidence of other crimes was not going

to be permitted as related to using officer Lowrey's testimony. (TR, 91-94). Despite this, Defense Counsel never objected, and even helped elicit the testimony.

- 13. In his motion for directed verdict at the close of the state's case, Defense Counsel argues that the suggestive lineup procedures and suggestive photo arrays should be considered a persuasive factor in his oral motion to dismiss. However, as the trial court and the prosecutors both pointed out, this issue should have more appropriately been raised in a pretrial motion. (TR, 215-218). It never was.
- 14. One of the witnesses called by McLaurin was Rochelle Williams, the mother of McLaurin's child. In it's cross examination, the State, with no objection from Defense Counsel, asked Williams about a prior affidavit she had allegedly signed accusing McLaurin of domestic violence. The State never revealed it was about to attempt to introduce evidence of a prior alleged domestic violence charge against McLaurin by Williams. Compounding the State's error, Defense Counsel did not object, ask for a cautionary instruction or move for a mistrial. (TR, 230). Later in the case, the State moved and was allowed to admit into evidence a certified copy of an affidavit allegedly signed by Williams alleging domestic violence unrelated to the alleged rape. Williams denied on the stand that the affidavit was hers, but the seed was planted in the jury's mind anyway. (TR, 230). There was no objection from Defense Counsel to the admission of the purported prior affidavit of Rochelle Williams against McLaurin for domestic violence. (TR, 264). There was no request for a balancing test by the court on the document's probative value versus it prejudicial effect. (TR, 264). The court took no action to enforce its pretrial ruling regarding other crimes evidence. (TR, 91-94).
- 15. Defense Counsel did not object to the state asking Rochelle Williams questions that revealed that McLaurin was on probation from an unrelated charge, thus allowing the jury to

infer prior convictions of McLaurin without a probative/prejudicial evaluation by the Court. (TR, 231-233). Defense Counsel did not object, ask for a cautionary instruction or, move for a mistrial. The Defendant did not ultimately testify and was not subject to impeachment by prior conviction.

16. As the Defense's last witness, Defense Counsel called Defendant McLaurin to the stand while the jury was present in the courtroom. The Court asked the jury to step outside so that it could make its usual determination that the Defendant was informed of his right to testify or not to testify. No motion had been made to exclude McLaurin's prior conviction. While the jury was still out, the prosecutor brought up the fact that she wanted to impeach McLaurin with his prior felony conviction. When the Court said she would allow the State to question McLaurin on the prior conviction, McLaurin changed his mind and decided not to testify. It is obvious from reading the exchange in the trial record that McLaurin had never been advised by counsel on this issue until the Court made its ruling. Unfortunately, the jury could not escape the fact that Defense Counsel had just represented to them that McLaurin would testify before they were sent out of the room. When the jury came back, McLaurin had suspiciously (to the jury) decided not to testify. This appears very bad for McLaurin. This whole scenario, brought about by McLaurin's attorney, could have been completely avoided by a simple pretrial or even oral motion to exclude the prior conviction before announcing in the jury's presence that McLaurin intended to testify. (TR, 259-263). However the trial court would have ruled on the Motion, at least McLaurin would have been able to make a decision to testify, or not, before he announced he would testify to the jury members.

17. No objection was made to the State calling U.S. Probation Officer James Chappell.

Defense witness Rochelle Williams had supposedly called Officer Chappell alleging she had

been threatened by McLaurin. (TR, 265-266). This is evidence of impermissible "other crimes evidence" of McLaurin in two ways. First, the alleged criminal act of the threats to the witness and second due to the fact that it called the jury's attention to the fact that Chappell was McLaurin's probation officer. Further, Chappell had never previously spoken to Williams and could not verify the identity or voice of the caller to actually be that of Rochelle Williams. So, Chappelle's testimony did not meet authentication standards under MRE 901 or satisfy any hearsay exception under MRE 803 or 804. There was absolutely no objection from Defense Counsel on any of these critical issues. (TR, 264-271). It also appears that this evidence was provided to the defense in discovery.

- 18. Defense Counsel submitted no jury instructions.
- 19. Defense Counsel failed to object or demand hearing, cautionary instruction or mistrial after the state's comment in closing about McLaurin failing to put on medical evidence or medical testimony regarding his gunshot wound. The wound existed at the time of the alleged rape and would have been obvious to the Complainant. (TR, 284).
- 20. Defense Counsel failed to object to the State's argument that McLaurin had apparently assaulted his own witness, Rochelle Williams, in the past. (TR, 287). This is impermissible evidence of other crimes. No balancing test was ever conducted or requested by Defense Counsel.
- 21. Defense Counsel advised the jury of the wrong legal standards and burdens of proof in the case, a fact highlighted by the state, adding to the cumulative negative impression of counsel and confusion to the jury. (TR, 298-304).
- 22. Defense counsel repeatedly called his client the wrong name in front of the jury during the trial. (TR, 151, 226, 237, 245, 268).

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