IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHAWN LAWAN MCLAURIN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0814-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

What did McLaurin intend to prove by the question he propounded to Lala Eddie? We shall never know because of the lack of an adequate profert or a request that the witness answer the question outside the hearing and presence of the jury. See Bell v. State, 443 So.2d 16, 19-20 (Miss. 1983). A profert must be full and specific and not left in an indefinite shape. Kinney v. State, 336 So.2d 493, 495 (Miss. 1976). In the case at bar, there was no profert at all. The lack thereof is fatal to McLaurin's complaint.

In **Temple v. State**, 165 Miss. 798, 145 So. 749, 751 (1933), this Court penned the following language:

Objection is made to the action of the court in declining to allow the witness to answer a question as to a dying declaration made by the deceased. It is a sufficient answer to this objection that we do not now know what the statement would have been, had the witness been permitted to answer the question. Counsel should have stated what he proposed to prove in the court below for information there, and for our information here. Moore v. State, 131 Miss. 662, 95 So. 638, and Reece v. State, 154 Miss. 862, 123 So. 892. [emphasis supplied]

A party seeking to reverse a case because of excluded testimony must show in the record what the testimony would have been if the witness had been allowed to testify. **Jones v. State**, 306 So.2d 57 (Miss. 1975). *See also* **Nalls v. State**, 651 So.2d 1074 (Miss. 1995) [Primary reason for profert is to get the proposed answer and expected proof in the record for the benefit of the appellate court, so that appellate court may know what evidence is being excluded by trial court]; **King v. State**, *supra*, 374 So.2d 808 (Miss. 1979)[Defendant should have stated into record testimony he expected to obtain through eight-year-old witness]; **Brown v. State**, 338 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 1976) [Counsel must either state into record what is expected to be proved, or in absence of jury have the witness answer the questions.]

This is not a case where cross-examination was suppressed. Rather, it is a case where defense counsel's question was in the form of actual testimony. The trial judge did not abuse her judicial discretion in sustaining the State's objection.

Finally, "[b]y virtue of Rule 103(a), Miss.R.Evid., '[b]efore error can be predicated at all upon an adverse evidentiary ruling it must appear that a substantial right of the party is affected.' "

Jackson v. State, 594 So.2d 20, 25 (Miss. 1992). In other words, the admission or exclusion of evidence must result in prejudice or harm if the cause is to be reversed on that ground. Jackson v.

State, 594 So.2d at 25 quoting from Knight v. State, 248 Miss. 850, 161 So.2d 521, 522 (1964).

No harm has been demonstrated here because the evidence against McLaurin is simply overwhelming, and McLaurin has neither demonstrated, nor even suggested, how Ms Eddie's excluded testimony was relevant to a defense of misidentification.

In short, McLaurin's complaint is not grounds for reversal. The absence of an adequate profert is fatal to his claim of testimony wrongfully suppressed.

If not, any error was innocuous and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the strength of the prosecution's case.

III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING McLAURIN'S OBJECTION WHEN THE PROSECUTOR ALLEGEDLY COMMENTED UPON McLAURIN'S FAILURE TO CALL A MEDICAL WITNESS.

THE LACK OF A CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION TO TWO OTHER SIMILAR COMMENTS PRECLUDES APPELLATE REVIEW OF THESE ISSUES.

McLaurin contends the trial judge erred when she sustained the state's objection during defense counsel's cross-examination of the victim, Lala Eddie.

Applicable colloquy is repeated as follows:

- Q. [By Defense Counsel]: Okay. Was there anything unusual about him at that point [around January 1st of '97?]
 - A. [By Ms Eddie]: During that night?
- Q. Well, during that time anything unusual about his person or anything like that?
 - A. No, there wasn't.
- Q. Okay. So if he was shot in the right leg with a .38 caliber pistol and under a doctor's care, you would know that. You wouldn't have the opportunity to have seen that?
 - A. At that time I didn't realize anything like that, no.
- Q. Okay. Did that come up in conversation that I had been shot in November of '96 and was finally released from doctor's care on 12-21-96, about two weeks before the event?

MS. SPEETJENS: May it please the court.

THE COURT: Objection sustained, counsel.

MS. SPEETJENS: Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. FOLSE: Your Honor, sustained as to what?

THE COURT: Objection sustained.

MR. FOLSE: Yes, ma'am, as to why?

MS. SPEETJENS: My objection, Your Honor, would be counsel testifying after giving no such documents to back up what he is going to say. So if in fact that is true he's just - - I have no reason to believe it's true and I have no reason to believe that there's any substantiating documentation, so I object to counsel testifying.

THE COURT: The court sustains the objection. Also on the issue of relevance. (R. 149-50) [emphasis ours]

The State's objection was properly sustained because defense counsel was, in effect, testifying to facts and matters that had not been introduced into evidence via testimony or by other means. Facts should come from the mouth of a sworn witness and not from the lips of a lawyer for either side.

McLaurin identifies two (2) other instances where the prosecutor allegedly commented improperly upon the failure of the defense to call a medical witness who could have allegedly attested to the presence of a gunshot wound to McLaurin's leg at the time of the rape. His complaint is devoid of merit for several reasons.

First, there was no objection, contemporaneous or otherwise, to the comments made during prosecutor's cross-examination of McLaurin's mother, Margaret McLaurin (R. 25–51), or to the portion of the prosecutor's closing argument complained about for the first time on appeal. (R. 283-84)

We respectfully point out the testimony and comments criticized "here and now" were not so obviously egregious and prejudicial "then and there." *Second*, Dr. Fisher was an unknown entity who was not equally accessible to the State. McLaurin's mother was not even sure of the doctor's name. "[I]f I'm not mistaken, it might have been Dr. Fisher. I'm not for sure." (R, 250)

Third, the prosecutor did not call Dr. Fisher by name during closing argument. (R. 283-84) Her comments were neither "blatant" nor "vigorous." Unlike the situation in **Holmes v. State**, 537 So.2d 882 (Miss. 1988), cited and relied upon by McLaurin, no prejudicial error ensued.

These observations, standing alone, are fatal to McLaurin's complaint raised here for the first time on appeal.

In short, any error was waived or forfeited when McLaurin failed to object during trial.

Accordingly, McLaurin has "forfeited" his right to raise these claims on appeal. See United States

v. Dodson, 288 F.3d 153 (5th Cir. 2002), reh denied, cert denied 123 S.Ct. 32 [Forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right, generally by failure to object to an error in the proceedings.]

Now the law.

It is elementary that a contemporaneous objection is required in order to preserve an error for appellate review. Caston v. State, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; Logan v. State, 773 So.2d 338 (Miss. 2000); Florence v. State, 755 So.2d 1065 (Miss. 2000); Jackson v. State, 766 So.2d 795 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); Goree v. State, 750 So.2d 1260 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Otherwise the error, if any at all, is waived for appeal purposes. Caston v. State, supra, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

Stated differently, "[t]he failure to object at trial acts as a procedural bar in an appeal."

White v. State, 964 So.2d 1181, 1185 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), citing Jackson v. State, 832 So.2d at 579, 581(¶3) (Ct.App. Miss. 2002), citing Carr v. State, 655 So.2d 824, 853 (Miss. 1995).

A defendant is not entitled to raise new issues on appeal that he has not first presented to the trial court for consideration. **Hodgin v. State**, 964 So.2d 492 (Miss. 2007). This rule is not diminished in a capital case. **Flowers v. State**, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007). Moreover, it also applies to constitutional questions. **Williams v. State**, 971 So.2d 581 (Miss. 2007) ["As a general rule, constitutional questions not asserted at the trial level are deemed waived."] *See also* **Ross v. State**, 954 So.2d 968, 987-88, 1015 (Miss. 2006); **Rogers v. State**, 928 So.2d 831, 834 (Miss. 2006).

In **Gonzales v. State**, 963 So.2d 1138, 1144 (Miss. 2007), the Supreme Court reaffirmed the rule with the following rhetoric:

Where an argument has never been raised before the

trial court, we repeatedly have held that 'a trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to the trial court for a decision.' *Purvis v. Barnes*, 791 So.2d 199, 203 (Miss. 2001).

The contemporaneous objection rule has been applied to speedy trial violations, discovery violations, *Batson* violations, in-court identifications, admission of wrongfully obtained evidence, trial *in absentia*, and the like. *See* Miller v. State, 956 So.2d 221 (Miss. 2007) [speedy trial]; Jackson v. State, 962 So.2d 649 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh den, cert den [discovery]; Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007) and Roles v. State, 952 So.2d 1043 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [*Batson*]; Black v. State, 949 So.2d 105 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [in-court identifications]; Gonzales v. State, *supra*, 963 So.2d 1138 (Miss. 2007) [wrongfully obtained evidence]; Mallard v. State, 798 So.2d 539 (Miss. 2001) [trial *in absentia*]; Hill v. State, 432 So.2d 427 (Miss. 1983) [Prosecutor's improper closing argument]; Brown v. State, 936 So.2d 447, 453 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006) [Prosecutor's improper argument and remarks].

The contemporaneous objection rule is in place in order to enable the trial judge to correct error with proper instructions to the jury whenever possible. Slaughter v. State, 815 So.2d 1122 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

A trial court cannot be put in error unless it had an opportunity to first pass on the question. Palm v. State, 748 So.2d 135 (Miss. 1999); Fulgham v. State, 770 So.2d 1021 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). See also Mallard v. State, supra, 798 So.2d 539, 542 (Miss. 2001), where this Court held that Mallard's complaint that she was tried in her absence was waived, for the purposes of appeal, since she failed to object to her trial in absentia.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-35-143 is precisely in point. It reads, in its pertinent parts, that

[a] judgment in a criminal case shall not be reversed because the transcript of the record does not show a proper organization of the court below or of the grand jury, or where the court was held, or that the prisoner was present in court during the trial or any part of it, or that the court asked him if he had anything to say why judgment should not be pronounced against him upon the verdict, or because of any error or omission in the case in the court below, except where the errors or omission are jurisdictional in their character, unless the record show that the errors complained of were made ground of special exception in that court. [emphasis added]

The underlying bases for the existence of a contemporaneous objection rule are contained in **Oates v. State**, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982), where we find the following:

There are three basic considerations which underlie the rule requiring specific objections. It avoids costly new trials. Boring v. State, 253 So.2d 251 (Miss. 1971). It allows the offering party an opportunity to obviate the objection. Heard v. State, 59 Miss. 545 (Miss. 1882). Lastly, a trial court is not put in error unless it had an opportunity to pass on the question. Boutwell v. State, 165 Miss. 16, 143 So. 479 (1932). These rules apply with equal force in the instant case; accordingly, we hold that appellant did not properly preserve the question for appellate review.

In Leverett v. State, 197 So.2d 889, 890 (Miss. 1967), this Court, quoting from Collins v. State, 173 Miss. 179, 180, 159 So. 865 (1935), penned the following language:

The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction; it can only try questions that have been tried and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken. Whatever remedy appellant has is in the trial court, not in this court. This court can only pass on the question after the trial court has done so.

In **Sumner v. State**, 316 So.2d 926, 927 (Miss. 1975), we find the following language concerning the time for making an objection:

The rule governing the time of objection to evidence is that it must be made as soon as it appears that the evidence is objectionable, or as soon as it could reasonably have been known to the objecting party, unless some special reason makes a postponement desirable for him which is not unfair to the proponent of the evidence. *Williams v. State*, 171 Miss. 324, 157 So. 717 (1934) and cases cited therein. See also cases in Mississippi Digest under Criminal Law at 693.

We reiterate. "A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for decision." Ballenger v. State, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995) citing numerous cases. See also McLendon v. State, 945 So.2d 372 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den; Howard v. State, 945 So.2d 326 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den. "[The Supreme Court] cannot find that a trial judge committed reversible error on a matter not brought before him to consider." Montgomery v. State, 891 So.2d 179, 187 (Miss. 2004) reh den.

No egregious violation of a fundamental or substantial right is involved here, and the procedural bar/waiver/forfeiture rule is applicable to Shawn McLaurin.

Plain Error.

Waiver/forfeiture notwithstanding, McLaurin relies upon plain error. (Brief for Appellant at 19-20)

Miss.R.Evid. 103 (d) reads as follows: "Nothing in this rule precludes taking notice of plain errors affecting substantial rights although they were not brought to the attention of the court."

We continue to adhere to our view that "plain error" is something for a reviewing court to notice and not a crutch for an appellant to argue.

In any event, the plain error doctrine is inapplicable here because in order to find "plain" error there must be "error" and it must be "plain, clear, or obvious." McGee v. State, 953 So.2d 211, 215 (Miss. 2007).

"The plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss. 2001).

In McGee v. State, supra, 953 So.2d 211, 215 (Miss. 2007), we find the following language dispositive of McLaurin's "plain error" argument:

* * * However, if there is a finding of plain error, a reviewing court may consider the issue regardless of the procedural bar. A review under the plain error doctrine is necessary when a party's fundamental rights are affected, and the error results in a manifest miscarriage of justice. Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187-88 (Miss. 2001). To determine if plain error has occurred, we must determine "if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome of the trial." Cox v. State, 793 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss. 2001) (relying on Grubb v. State, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1991);, Porter v. State, 749 So.2d 250, 260-61 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999).

The Supreme Court applies the "plain error" rule "... only when it affects a defendant's substantial/fundamental rights." Williams v. State, supra, 794 So.2d at 187.

None of this criteria is found to exist in the case at bar,

First, Judge Green did not deviate from a legal rule. In the absence of a contemporaneous objection, the trial judge never had the opportunity to rule on the prosecutor's comments. Thus, there is no error, plain or otherwise, to review.

Second, even if there is the spectre of error, it is neither "plain" nor "clear" nor "obvious." The comments did not prejudice the outcome of the trial where, as here, evidence of McLaurin's guilt was at least "whelming" if not overwhelming. Heidelberg v. State, 584 So.2d 393, 394 (Miss. 1991) [Corroboration of state witnesses testimony while not "overwhelming," was at least "whelming."] In other words, any error did not result in a "manifest miscarriage of justice."

Harmless Error.

Assuming, arguendo, there is "plain error," it was clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the evidence preponderates heavily in favor of the guilty verdict, and any error could not have contributed to the defendant's conviction. *See* Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct.824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), reh den 17 L.Ed.2d 705.

IV.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HER JUDICIAL DISCRETION WHEN SHE FAILED TO CONDUCT, SUA SPONTE, A "BALANCING TEST" WITH RESPECT TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF PRIOR CRIMINAL ACTS.

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